RECEIVED

May 21 2025

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM S. C. ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Debra B. Durden, Judge

Appellate Tracking Number: 2024-000962

Administrative Law Court Docket No.: 23-ALJ-17-0362-CC

Watertoys, LLC, d/b/a Tidalwave Watersports,Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue, Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

May 21, 2025

/s/Thomas R. Goldstein
Thomas R. Goldstein, S. C. Bar No. 2186
Belk, Cobb, Infinger & Goldstein, P.A.
P. O. Box 71121
N. Charleston, S. C. 29415-1121
(843) 729 0928
tgoldstein@cobblaw.net

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the Administrative Law Judge deny the appellant fundamental procedural due process in deciding to end a case on summary judgment without allowing the appellant to be heard?

Did the Administrative Law Judge invert the summary judgment standard?

Did the Administrative Law Judge misapply the rules of statutory construction?

Did the Administrative Law Judge misapply the rules of statutory construction to Exemption No. 13, of § 12-21-2420 S. C. Code, ann.?

Did the Administrative Law Court misapply the rules of statutory construction in requiring the appellant to post interest as a condition of judicial review when the statute requires only taxes, not including “fines and penalties”?

STATEMENT OF CASE

Tidalwave Watersports began in 1996. It rents jet skis and conducts sightseeing water tours, some of which include an option to parasail from the vessel while it is underway. As discussed in detail below, this distinction is important because the admissions/amusement tax statute addressed in this case exempts businesses from collecting the admissions/amusement tax: “On admissions to boats which charge a fee for pleasure fishing, excursion, sight-seeing and private charter.” § 12-21-2420 (13), S. C. Code, ann. Title 12 is the Title on “Taxation,” and Article 17, which begins at § 12-21-2410, is the Article on “Admissions Tax.” § 2410 assesses a 5% tax on “paid admissions to places of amusement.” The statute lists 16 exemptions. Number 13 exempts: “(13) On admissions to boats which charge a fee for pleasure fishing, excursion, sightseeing and private charter.”

The current owners purchased the business as a going concern in 2005. From 1996 until 2021, the department of Revenue did not require Tidalwave to collect or remit the admissions/amusement tax despite conducting an audit in 2014. (R.O.A. page 145 [affidavit of Michael Fiem]) Because § 12-21-2420, S. C. Code, ann. imposes a 5% tax on “admission to places of amusement,” the Department of Revenue refers to these collections as both an “admissions tax” and/or an “amusement tax” in various administrative publications. Therefore, appellant uses the terms interchangeably.

On September 16, 2021, the Department of Revenue notified appellant it would conduct a sales tax audit on October 20, 2021. (R.O.A. page 21 [notice of audit]) Thereafter, on February 17, 2022, the Department of Revenue notified the appellant that it calculated Tidalwave was allegedly in arrears in the principal sum of \$34,511.15 for failing to collect and remit the

amusement tax. The Department also alleged Tidalwave owed interest in the amount of \$1,527.66 and penalties of \$11,476. (R.O.A. page 22 [notice of tax deficiency])

In accordance with Department of Revenue procedure, the taxpayer challenged the decision administratively on March 17, 2022, pointing out that the General Assembly exempted “sight-seeing, excursion and private charter” on boats. (R.O.A. page 37 [protest letter]) On June 15, 2022, the parties convened at the Department of Revenue for a settlement conference, and when that failed to resolve the issue, the Department of Revenue notified the appellant by mail on February 22, 2022, that the Department would not adjust his alleged tax deficiency. (R.O.A. page 33) The Record is silent as to the Department of Revenue’s motivation to abandon its 25-year legal position (1996-2021) on the admission/amusement tax.

On January 24, 2023, the Department of Revenue denied Tidalwave’s administrative appeal and reaffirmed its decision that the taxpayer owed an alleged tax deficiency in the amount of \$34,511.15 (plus interest of \$1,527.66 and penalties of \$11,476.39) and transferred the case to the litigation department. (R.O.A. page 43 [Cardona ltr. Jan. 24, 23]) The Department of Revenue issued its Department Determination on August 18, 2023, alleging Tidalwave owed \$53,163.55, \$33,98.40 in taxes, \$4,808.41 in interest, and \$14,356.74 in penalties.

On September 15, 2023, the taxpayer filed an appeal with the Administrative Law Court, and after pre-hearing briefing, the appellant moved for summary judgment on March 26, 2024, and the Department of Revenue moved for summary judgment on March 29, 2024. (R.O.A. pages 49, 82, and 90 [Notice of Appeal, motions for summary judgment]) Both parties filed pre-hearing briefs, a joint stipulation of 8 facts, and supplemental briefing. (R.O.A. pages 59, 75, 80, 83, 90, 96, 102, and 110 [Pre-hearing briefs, Memoranda of Law, Stipulation of Facts])

The Administrative Law Judge never scheduled a hearing on the motions for summary judgment either in person, via WebX, or by telephone. The Court never notified the parties that the Court would decide the summary judgments without affording the parties an opportunity to address the Court. As discussed in more detail below, Rule 56(c), *South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure* guarantees a party resisting summary judgment a minimum of ten days' notice prior to the **hearing** to decide the issue. The Supreme Court reversed a grant of summary judgment when the prevailing party failed to provide ten days' notice of the hearing to the party resisting summary judgment. *Dedes v. Strickland*, 307 S.C. 152, 414 S.E.2d 132 (1992) The *Rules of Procedure* are applicable to the Administrative Law Court by Rule 68 *Administrative Law Court Rules*.

On April 18, 2024, the Administrative Law Court entered an Order denying the taxpayer's motion for summary judgment and granting summary judgment for the Department of Revenue. On April 24, 2024, the taxpayer timely moved for reconsideration, which the Administrative Law Court summarily denied on May 14, 2024. (R.O.A. ppgs. 1, 8, and 115) On June 7, 2024, the taxpayer filed a Notice of Appeal, and in accordance with §12-60-3370, S. C. Code, ann, appellant filed a properly executed appeal bond and deposited the disputed taxes of \$33,296.00 into counsel's *I.O.L.T.A.* account. (R.O.A. pages 147 – 153 [Notice of Appeal and appeal bond])

§12-60-3370, S. C. Code, ann., S. C. Code, ann. Says: "Except as otherwise provided, a taxpayer shall pay, or post a bond for, all taxes, not including penalties or civil fines, determined to be due by the administrative law judge before appealing the decision to the court of appeals." On June 19, 2024, the Department of Revenue filed a motion asking this Court to dismiss the appeal with prejudice because it correctly identified the tender into escrow of the \$33,296.00 disputed taxes was \$702.00 short and because the tender did not include interest. (R.O.A. page 177) As to the \$702.00 shortfall, appellant's counsel admitted the error and took responsibility for

the mistake, correcting the shortfall by depositing an additional \$702.00 into escrow on June 24, 2024, and filing an amended appeal bond reflecting the corrected amount of \$33,998.00.¹ (R.O.A. page 152 [amended appeal bond]) In its motion to dismiss, the Department of Revenue alleged appellant forfeited appellate jurisdiction because it failed to pay the disputed taxes to the Department as required by its interpretation of § 12-60-3370, S. C. Code, ann. (R.O.A. page 178 [motion to dismiss]) In its push to prevent judicial review, the Department infelicitously asserted appellant “neither paid these taxes nor posted a bond for such taxes.” (Department’s motion to dismiss at page 1, R.O.A. page 179) Obviously, as the Department of Revenue’s pleadings conceded, appellant “posted a bond for such taxes,” so the Department of Revenue hedged its bet by softening its assertion in footnote 1, saying, **in its opinion**, the appeal bond did not “constitute” a bond for reasons it has yet to identify, which is far different than saying appellant did not post a bond. The Department of Revenue doubled down on its misleading representation, saying on page 2, “Appellant has not paid **or** posted a bond for the amount of the tax including interest,” and repeats the inaccurate statement again on page 4, “Appellant has neither paid nor posted bond for the tax determined by the ALC.” The disjunction “or” in § 12-60-3370 is controlling, for while it is true appellant did not post interest, there is no doubt it posted the disputed tax and whether interest must be included is an appellate question properly raised to this Court in the September 26, 2024, Amended Notice of Appeal. (R.O.A. page 152) As the Record on Appeal demonstrates (R.O.A. page 150 [appeal bond]), appellant filed its initial appeal bond on June 7th along with the Notice of Appeal. This is an undisputed procedural fact. The Department’s real argument is that the appeal bond was deficient because it originally did not include interest, and the disputed funds are escrowed rather than tendered to the Department. On July 18, 2024, this Court remanded the

¹ Counsel relied on imperfect memory in making the initial deposit because we were relocating from our office and temporarily separated from files.

case to the Administrative Law Court to set the appeal bond amount. On remand, the Administrative Law Court issued its Order on September 4, 2024, requiring the appellant to include interest in the appeal bond. R.O.A. page 13 [Order] As set forth above, on September 26, 2024, appellant filed an amended Notice of Appeal challenging the Administrative Law Court’s decision that interest must be included in an appeal bond, and, in an abundance of caution, filed a supplemental appeal bond on September 26, 2024, including the disputed interest deposited into the *I.O.L.T.A.* account. R.O.A. page 152 [amended appeal bond] As mentioned above and discussed in detail below, the statute authorizing appeals gives a taxpayer the option to do one or the other—either pay the taxes to the Department of Revenue or post a bond—and specifically excludes “fines and penalties” from the bond.

The *Rules of Appellate Procedure*, Rule 208(b)(1)(C), require that the Statement of Case “not contain contested matters,” but it is an important, non-argumentative procedural statement of case to disclose that even though the Department of Revenue sought a preemptive dismissal with prejudice on the ground that this Court lacks appellate jurisdiction, it later acknowledged on page 3 of its Motion to Dismiss (R.O.A. page 177) that questions about the sufficiency of an appeal bond are appellate questions, not jurisdictional ones, and thus the question is properly before the Court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On review of an order granting summary judgement, the appellate court applies the same standard as that used by the trial court. *Joseph v. South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation*, 417 S.C. 436, 790 S.E.2d 763 (2016) Summary judgment is a drastic remedy which should be cautiously invoked so that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues. *Baughman v. American Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d

537, 543 (1991), *Murphy v. Tyndall*, 384 S. C. 50, 681 S.E.2d 28 (Ct. App. 2009) When the evidence is susceptible to more than one reasonable inference, the issue should be submitted to the jury, rather than resolved at the summary judgment stage. *Murphy v. Tyndall*, *ibid.* In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed by the court considering a motion for summary judgment in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party; if triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury. *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 633 S.E.2d 505 (2006)² “In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, a court considering motion for summary judgment must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Quail Hill, LLC v. County of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 692 S.E.2d 499 (2010) This is so because summary judgment is a “drastic remedy,” and should not be imposed to deprive a litigant of a trial on disputed factual issues: “Since it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.” *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 529, 511 S.E.2d 69, 74 (1999), *Gary v. Askew*, 813 S.E.2d 717, 423 S.C. 47 (S.C. 2018). As stated by this Court in *Schmidt v. Courtney and Kemper Sports*, 357 S.C. 310, 592 S.E.2d 326 (Ct. App. 2003):

Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. *Lanham*, 349 S.C. at 362, 563 S.E.2d at 333; *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 534 S.E.2d 672 (2000); *Mosteller v. County of Lexington*, 336 S.C. 360, 520 S.E.2d 620 (1999); *Redwend Ltd. P’ship*, 354 S.C. at 468, 581 S.E.2d at 501; *Baril*, 352 S.C. at 280, 573 S.E.2d at 835; *Trivelas*, 348 S.C. at 130, 558 S.E.2d at 273; *Hall v. Fedor*, 349 S.C. 169, 561 S.E.2d 654 (Ct. App. 2002); *Hedgepath v. American Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 348 S.C. 340, 559 S.E.2d 327 (Ct. App. 2001); *Bayle v. South Carolina Dep’t of Transp.*, 344 S.C. 115, 542 S.E.2d 736 (Ct. App. 2001); *Vermeer Carolina’s, Inc. v. Wood/Chuck Chipper Corp.*, 336 S.C. 53, 518 S.E.2d 301 (Ct. App. 1999); *Middleborough Horizontal Prop. Regime Council v. Montedison*, 320 S.C. 470, 465 S.E.2d 765 (Ct. App. 1995). “Summary judgment is inappropriate when further development of the facts is desirable to clarify the application of the law.” *Lee v. Kelley*, 298 S.C. 155, 158, 378 S.E.2d 616, 617 (Ct. App. 1989). Even when there is

² There is no jury in this case, but the absence of a jury does not alter the analysis of whether appellant created a genuine issue of material fact that can only be resolved by a trial on the merits.

no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied. *Redwend Ltd. P'ship*, 354 S.C. at 468, 581 S.E.2d at 501; *Baril*, 352 S.C. at 280, 573 S.E.2d at 835; *Hall*, 349 S.C. at 173-74, 561 S.E.2d at 656; *Glasscock, Inc. v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 557 S.E.2d 689 (Ct. App. 2001); *Stewart v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 341 S.C. 143, 533 S.E.2d 597 (Ct. App. 2000); see also *Laurens Emergency Med. Specialists v. M.S. Bailey & Sons Bankers*, 355 S.C. 104, 584 S.E.2d 375 (2003) (noting that summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, if there is dispute as to conclusions to be drawn therefrom). Although the facts regarding Schmidt's injury are not disputed, application of the law to the facts is disputed, and is a novel issue.

See also *Wade v. Berkely County*, 330 S.C. 311, 498 S.E.2d 684 (Ct. App. 1998) where this Court held a question of whether the plaintiff was or was not acting in the scope of his employment at the time of an automobile collision could not be decided at summary judgment even though the facts were not in dispute:

Summary judgment is inappropriate when further inquiry into the facts is desirable to clarify proper application of the law. *Id.* Summary judgment is not appropriate if facts are conflicting, or if the inferences to be drawn from the facts are doubtful. *Alston v. Blue Ridge Transfer Co.*, 308 S.C. 292, 417 S.E.2d 631 (Ct. App. 1992). Summary judgment should not be granted even when the evidentiary facts are not in dispute, if there is dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn from those facts. *Carolina Prod. Maintenance, Inc. v. United States Fidelity and Guar. Co.*, 310 S.C. 32, 425 S.E.2d 39 (Ct. App. 1992)

ARGUMENTS

Argument 1. The Administrative Law Court erred in granting summary judgment without affording appellant a hearing before imposing the “drastic remedy” of summary judgment.

Rule 56 (applicable to the Administrative Law Court by *Administrative Law Court Rule 68*) requires that the Court grant the non-moving party a hearing prior to imposing the “drastic remedy” of summary judgment: “The motion shall be served at least 10 days **before the time fixed for the hearing.**” *Dedes v. Strickland*, 307 S.C. 152, 414 S.E.2d 132 (1992), emphasis added, quoting Rule 56(c), *S. C. Rules of Civil Procedure*. There, the Supreme Court reversed a grant of summary judgment because the moving party failed to provide the necessary 10-day notice of the date and time

fixed for the hearing. Here, the Administrative Law Court granted summary judgment (and denied reconsideration) without a hearing. This was error because the Administrative Law Court prevented appellant an opportunity to address the Court, which is a denial of the right to be heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner. See Article 1, § 22, S. C. Constitution: “No person shall be finally bound by a judicial or quasi-judicial decision of an administrative agency affecting private rights except on due notice and an opportunity to be heard.

The U. S. Supreme Court held such a failure is the definition of legal prejudice because it is a denial of fundamental due process that cannot be cured by an after-the-decision opportunity to address the Court. See *Fuentes v. Shevin*, 407 U.S. 67, 92 S.Ct. 1983 (1972). *Fuentes* is both relevant and instructive because that case involved a replevin action for repossessed furniture, and the important holding in that case is the Supreme Court’s emphasis that even a post decision hearing does not cure the legal prejudice flowing from being deprived of an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful manner, which means at a meaningful time. A meaningful time means **before** the Court decides the case, not after. In short, the Administrative Law Court imposed the “drastic remedy” of summary judgment without appellant’s full participation. While appellate courts routinely decide cases without oral arguments, they do so only on a fully developed record that necessarily includes a litigant’s right to participate in the process by addressing the trial Court. This is especially critical here because while many (but not all) of the underlying facts are not in dispute, there is a wide gulf between the inferences to be drawn from them. “Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. *Schmidt v. Courtney and Kemper Sports*, 357 S.C. 310, 592 S.E.2d 326 (Ct. App. 2003), citing *Lanham*, 349 S.C. at 362, 563 S.E.2d at 333 and many other cases.

When the Administrative Law Court deprived appellant of an opportunity to present its case on summary judgment, appellant suffered foundational legal prejudice because the definition of due process is the right to be heard at a meaningful time in a meaningful manner. *Fuentes v. Shevin*, 407 U.S. 67, 92 S.Ct. 1983 (1972). This denial of due process is a salient issue here because in granting summary judgment, the Administrative Law Court grounded its decision on a palpably erroneous and highly disputed premise: “In this case, the parties **agree that there is no genuine issue of material fact relevant to the transactions at issue.**” (R.O.A. page 2 [Order page 2], emphasis added) This erroneous and highly disputed statement is refuted by the record, but appellant had no opportunity to address the Court’s misapprehension until after the Court declared it. As *Fuentes* holds, even a post-decision hearing does not cure the prejudice, a prejudice compounded here when the Court later held in denying reconsideration that appellant never raised the central issue in the case! The erroneous misreading of the record shines a bright light on the prejudicial harm resulting when courts exclude litigants from addressing the issues. The record shows that on March 20, 2024, the parties submitted to the Administrative Law Court 8 stipulated facts, R.O.A. page 80, but neither party stipulated there is no genuine issue of material fact, and each party asserted “the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them” were diametrically opposed, thus making summary judgment for the Department of Revenue inappropriate. See *Redwend Ltd. Partnership v. Edwards*, 354 S.C. 459, 468 (S.C. Ct. App. 2003):

“Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. *Vermeer Carolina's, Inc. v. Wood/Chuck Chipper Corp.*, 336 S.C. 53, 518 S.E.2d 301 (Ct. App. 1999). . . . Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied. *Hall v. Fedor*, 349 S.C. 169, 561 S.E.2d 654 (Ct. App. 2002).”

Thus, the Administrative Law Court’s statement is both erroneous and highly prejudicial. The Administrative Law Court’s error demonstrates why litigants should not be frozen out of the litigation

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