RECEIVED

May 19 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE S.C. ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Honorable Deborah B. Durden, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000962
Administrative Law Court Case No. 23-ALJ-17-0362-CC

Watertoys, LLC, d/b/a Tidalwave Watersports,.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue,.....Respondent.

**RESPONDENT SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE'S
FINAL BRIEF**

Marcus D. Antley, III, Esquire (Bar No. 102176)
W. Allen Myrick, Esquire (Bar No. 14718)
Jason P. Luther, Esquire (Bar No. 78021)
300 A Outlet Pointe Blvd.
Columbia, SC 29210
803-898-5623
Marcus.Antley@dor.sc.gov

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

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT LACKS APPELLATE JURISDICTION IF APPELLATE DID NOT POST BOND OR PAY THE DEPARTMENT THE PROPER AMOUNT OF DISPUTED TAX AND INTEREST, BUT INSTEAD DEPOSITED A LESSER AMOUNT IN ITS ATTORNEY'S IOLTA ACCOUNT.

As a threshold issue, this Court must have appellate jurisdiction. Here, it does not. Appellant misunderstands the distinction between appellate jurisdiction and subject matter jurisdiction made clear by the South Carolina Supreme Court in *State v. Brown*. There is no dispute this Court would have subject matter jurisdiction to hear an appeal from the South Carolina Administrative Law Court related to taxes. However, this Court lacks appellate jurisdiction because Appellant failed to comply with the procedural requirements for perfecting an appeal. *See State v. Brown*, 358 S.C. 382, 387, 596 S.E.2d 39, 41 (2004) (“this Court has held the failure to comply with procedural requirements for an appeal divests a court of appellate jurisdiction, not the circuit court’s subject matter jurisdiction”). This situation is similar to an appeal whose only defect is that notice of appeal was filed untimely. As with an untimely notice of appeal, this Court cannot entertain the appeal because it lacks appellate jurisdiction even if it has subject matter jurisdiction. *See Mears v. Mears*, 287 S.C. 168, 169, 337 S.E.2d 206, 207 (1985) (timely service of notice of appeal is a jurisdictional requirement and Court had no authority to extend or expand the time).

To create appellate jurisdiction, Appellant must comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 12-60-3370, which provides in relevant part: “Except as otherwise provided, a taxpayer shall pay, or post a bond for, all taxes, not including penalties or civil fines, determined to be due by the administrative law judge before appealing the decision to the court of appeals.” This statute can be broken down into a three-part question: 1) did the taxpayer pay or post a bond 2) for all taxes 3) before appealing? For appellate jurisdiction to exist, the answer to each part of the question must be yes. The parties agree that Appellant never paid the Department any amount associated with this matter. The parties disagree whether Appellant’s deposit into its counsel’s IOLTA account is a bond. The parties further disagree whether “all taxes” includes interest. Still, the parties agree that the deposit made prior to the deadline to perfect an appeal was deficient. Because the three-part question cannot be answered in the affirmative, the Court lacks appellate jurisdiction.

A. A deposit into the IOLTA account of Appellant’s counsel does not constitute a bond.

Appellant takes the novel approach of depositing funds into its attorney’s IOLTA account as posting a bond under section 12-60-3370. Typically, a taxpayer pays the Department the tax including interest ordered by the ALC. When the tax is paid in full, interest stops accruing. In the event the taxpayer prevails on appeal, the Department must refund the amount paid plus interest.⁴ See section 12-54-25(C)(1) (“Any tax refunded or credited must include interest on the amount of the credit or refund from the latest of the date the tax was paid, the original due date of the return, or the last day prescribed for paying the tax if no return is required, to either the date the refund was sent or delivered to the taxpayer or the date the credit was made.”). In rare instances, a taxpayer engages a third party

⁴ The Legislature reduces the interest rate is reduced by budget proviso and allocates the difference to the operations of the State’s Guardian ad Litem Program, Joint Citizens and Legislative Committee on Children, and Department of Juvenile Justice for programs for mentoring or other alternatives to incarceration. See S.C. Information Letter #23-11 at 29 (R. p. 217).

and posts a bond. By paying a portion of the owed amount to a surety company, the taxpayer avoids paying the full sum upfront, but if the taxpayer prevails on appeal, it will not receive a refund of the interest accrued.⁵

For at least a couple reasons, the Legislature requires a taxpayer to post a bond or pay the tax including interest before appealing the ALC decisions. First, it discourages the filing of frivolous appeals designed to prolong payment of the disputed amount. Second, it ensures the State receives the tax and interest it is legally owed by mitigating certain risks that might occur during the pendency of the appeal, such as the taxpayer fleeing the jurisdiction of the state to avoid collection or becoming insolvent.

Appellant's counsel is bound by the Rules of Professional conduct to safekeep the disputed funds and distribute the funds when a court order resolves the competing claims. *See* Rule 407, SCACR, Rules of Prof. Conduct, Rule 1.15(e). However, interest continues to accrue with no guarantee that Appellant will pay the additional interest. Neither the Department nor Appellant will receive interest on the funds deposited in the IOLTA account because Appellant's counsel must transmit interest to the SC Bar Foundation. *See* Rule 412 SCACR (h). This is a fatal flaw in Appellant's novel approach to posting a bond under section 12-60-3370. The amount of additional interest would be significant if it takes multiple years before Appellant's appeal is finally decided. The State has no guarantee it will receive this additional interest. Therefore, Appellant's attempt at posting a bond fails to satisfy section 12-60-3370.

B. All taxes under section 12-60-3370 includes interest.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-60-30 (2014), the definition section of Chapter 60 the Revenue Procedures Act (RPA), provides:

⁵ Appellant's approach is the worst of both options. Appellant deposited the full amount (albeit untimely) determined by the ALC but will receive no interest if it prevails.

As used in this chapter and in Chapter 54 of this title except when the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

(27) “Tax” or “taxes” means taxes, licenses, permits, fees, or other amounts, **including interest**, regulatory and other penalties, and civil fines, imposed by this title, or subject to assessment or collection by the department.

(emphasis added). “[W]hen the legislature defines a term in a statute, that definition governs, and the court must give effect to the definitions contained in the statute and exclude any unstated meanings.”

82 C.J.S. *Statutes* § 356. Therefore, unless stated otherwise, taxes include tax, interest, and penalties.

In section 12-60-3370, the Legislature explicitly excluded penalties and civil fines, which are included in the definition of tax.⁶ However, the Legislature made no such exclusion for interest. If penalties were inclusive of interest, the Legislature would not have listed both in the definition of tax. *See CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cnty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011) (“we must read the statute so ‘that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous’”). Penalties and civil fines are explicitly excluded from the taxes required to be paid or posted a bond for under 12-60-3370. In contrast, interest is not included in that exclusive list. *See Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 88, 533 S.E.2d 578, 582 (2000) (“enumeration of exclusions from the operation of a statute indicates that the statute should apply to all cases not specifically excluded”).

The penalties at issue here are imposed for failure to file an admissions tax return and failure to pay the tax required to be shown on the admissions tax return. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 12-54-43(C)(1) and (E) (2014) respectively. These penalties accumulate at a statutory rate while the failure to file and pay continues. Undisputedly, Appellant did not file an admission tax return or pay admissions tax for

⁶ When section 12-60-3370 was amended effective August 17, 2000 to exclude penalties and civil fines, the Department published guidance clearly stating that tax includes interest. *See* S.C. Revenue Informational Bulletin #00-15, 2000 WL 35722072 at 31 (The Record on Appeal mistakenly includes page 30 instead, but this document is publicly available.). The prior version of the statute expressly included interest, penalties, and other amounts determined to be due by the administrative law judge.

the Periods at Issue. Regardless, unlike interest, penalties expressly are not included in the amount of taxes Appellant must pay or the amount of the bond Appellant must post pursuant to section 12-60-3370.

Appellant asserts “[w]ith credit card debt, interest rates often increase for punishment/penalty for overdue payment.” Appellant’s Brief at 36. This is how actual penalties work. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 12-54-43(C)(1) and (E) (penalty rate increases with the length of the infraction). In contrast, the interest at issue here follows the Internal Revenue Service’s published rates, and the rates do not increase based on the length of the failure to pay. Whether interest is “coercive” as Appellant claims depends on the taxpayer. Absent penalties, a taxpayer may prefer to pay statutory interest because it can earn a return on the unpaid taxes that exceeds the amount of interest. In other words, a taxpayer might enjoy a loan from the state by deferring (perhaps indefinitely) payment of taxes.

Section 12-54-25 mandates when interest applies and how it is calculated. It mandates that tax is due on the last day provided for its payment or on the day the liability arises. Here, those dates are one and the same—during the Periods at Issue. Appellant conflates the statutory interest at issue here with prejudgment and post judgment interest. It is neither. The Legislature imposed interest on unpaid taxes irrespective of a judgment.

Accordingly, tax—as used in section 12-60-3370—includes interest.⁷

⁷ Although not precedent, in an unpublished decision *Anonymous Taxpayer v. S.C. Dep’t of Rev.*, Op. No. 2008-UP-124 (S.C.Ct.App. filed Feb. 20, 2008), available at 2008 WL 9837290, the Court of Appeals, citing to *State v. Brown*, found it lacked appellate jurisdiction in the matter because Appellant failed to pay or post a bond for the tax and interest prior to the appeal to the circuit court pursuant to section 12-60-3370. At the time, appeals from the ALC went to the circuit court. *See also* *CDT, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Rev.* (Appellate Case No. 2021-001528) and *Vimlesh V. Patel and Punita Patel v. S.C. Dep’t of Rev.* (Appellate Case No. 2021-001547) (filed Feb. 15, 2022) (Court dismissed appeals for failure to comply with section 12-60-3370).

C. Appellant did not comply with section 12-60-3370 before appealing.

Even if a deposit into the IOLTA account of Appellant’s counsel were a bond, it must be done before an appeal according to the explicit language of the statute. As our Supreme Court has held, “a statute should be so construed that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous....” *Matter of Decker*, 322 S.C. 215, 219, 471 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1995). The requirements of section 12-60-3370 are clear—the taxes must be paid or bond must be posted before appealing, not after appealing to this Court. Appellant neither paid nor posted bond for the tax determined by the ALC before appealing. Appellant concedes that it did not post interest before appealing. *See* Appellant’s Brief at 6. It also concedes that it did not post a bond for the correct amount of tax excluding interest before appealing. *See* Appellant Brief at 37. At the hearing on remand, Appellant admitted the parties agreed on the amount of the tax, interest, and penalties if the Court agreed with the Department’s position. *See* Hr’g Tr. 27:3–9; 27:20–28:1 (**R. p. 248–249**). Appellant’s deadline to appeal was June 13, 2024.⁸ Even if tax did not include interest, the deposit was deficient by Appellant’s own admission until June 26, 2024. *See* Appellant’s Brief at 37.

To permit Appellant to now pay the taxes or post bond would render the “before appealing the decision to the court of appeals” language superfluous. Appellant asks the Court to ignore this critical component of section 12-60-3370. Because no statute shall be interpreted in a manner that renders any term in the statute superfluous, Appellant cannot satisfy section 12-60-3370 by paying the tax or posting bond after the time for perfecting an appeal has passed. Appellant’s failure to comply with the requirements of section 12-60-3370 deprives this Court of appellate jurisdiction, and this appeal should be dismissed.

⁸ Appellant received written notice of the ALC’s Order Denying Appellant’s Motion to Reconsider on May 14, 2024. Under SCACR 203(b)(6), it had thirty days from receipt of the ALC’s decision. Thirty days from May 14, 2024 is June 13, 2024.

II. THE ALC CORRECTLY FOUND THAT APPELLANT OWED ADMISSIONS TAX ON THE FEES IT CHARGED FOR ITS PARASAILING RIDES.

A. Parasailing rides are not exempt from admissions tax as a matter of law.

Even if Appellant satisfied the requirements of appellate jurisdiction, the ALC correctly answered the question of whether admissions to Appellant's parasailing rides were exempt from admissions tax. Because the question before this Court is one of law, the review is *de novo*. First, the Court must determine if the exemption claimed by Appellant, section 12-21-2420(13), is ambiguous. *See Smith v. Tiffany*, 419 S.C. 548, 555–56, 799 S.E.2d 479, 483 (2017) (internal cites omitted) (“It is axiomatic that statutory interpretation begins (and often ends) with the text of the statute in question. If a statute is clear and explicit in its language, then there is no need to resort to statutory interpretation or legislative intent to determine its meaning. The text of a statute as drafted by the legislature is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Absent an ambiguity, there is nothing for a court to construe, that is, a court should not look beyond the statutory text to discern its meaning. [T]here is no occasion for employing rules of statutory interpretation and the court has no right to look for or impose another meaning unless a statutory provision is ambiguous.”). Section 12-21-2420(13) is not ambiguous, which Appellant concedes. *See* Appellant's Brief at 28. The statute clearly lists the limited activities for which admissions to boats are exempt. Noticeably absent from that list are parasailing rides. Therefore, the analysis should end here.

If the Court determines section 12-21-2420(13) is ambiguous, the Court must strictly construe the exemption against Appellant. Although the ALC mentions agency deference⁹, the ALC applied a strict construction to an exemption statute. *See* Order Granting Department's Motion for Summary

⁹ The ALC cites the South Carolina Supreme Court decision *Kiawah Dev. Partners, II v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*, which quotes the United States Supreme Court decision *Chevron* in the context of federal law. After the ALC's Order denying Appellant's motion for reconsideration, the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Loper-Bright* overturned *Chevron*.

Judgment and Denying Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment at 5 (**R. p. 5**) ("a strict construction of the exemption excludes parasail rides from its terms."). However, Appellant argues that a substantial doubt should be resolved in its favor. Appellant confuses the statutory construction rules for a tax exemption statute with those for a tax imposition statute. *Alltel*, cited in Appellant's Brief, deals with a tax imposition statute—which has the opposite construction of a tax exemption statute. Here, the parties do not dispute that Appellant's parasailing rides are subject to admissions tax absent an exemption. In fact, admissions to boats which charged for excursions, sight-seeing, and fishing were subject to admissions tax prior to enactment of the subsection (13) exemption. *See* Op. S.C. Att'y Gen. 115 (June 28, 1979) and Op. S.C. Att'y Gen. 50 (March 31, 1981) ("An excursion boat offering sight-seeing or fishing is a place of amusement and the charges for admission thereto are taxable under the provisions of § 12-21-2420."); *see also* Op. S.C. Att'y Gen. 247 (November 24, 1975) ("All admissions are generally subject to the tax unless specifically exempted."). Because the statute at issue is an exemption, the Court must strictly construe it.

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